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Historic Assessment 
Property Address:  1739 West Summit Avenue 
 

1. Application Details 
Applicant:   Dana W. Kent 
Type:   Historic Landmark Designation 
Date Received: 8 July 2023 
 
2. Findings 

 
The structure at 1739 West Summit Avenue is a one-story dwelling, built circa 1923. Dana W. Kent 
currently owns the property. The subject property is located in the Woodlawn Lake area, just southeast 
of the boundary for the Monticello Park Historic District. It is situated midblock on West Summit, 
between Zarzamora and Elmedorf Streets, about one-and-a-half blocks west of the Fredericksburg Road 
commercial corridor, in the Jefferson Neighborhood. The Jefferson Neighborhood is located west of 
Fredericksburg Road and east of St. Cloud between Donaldson and W. Woodlawn Avenues. The 
neighborhood features an eclectic mix of architectural styles, ranging from Art Moderne to Spanish 
Eclectic and Tudor Revival, including fanciful façades and a variety of styles, materials, and textures. In 
the 1924 City directory, 1739 West Summit Avenue is listed as the residence of Wm.R. & Lelia Wells. 
William (“Ralph”) Wells (1885-1984) worked for the Southwestern Telephone Company, and in January 
1923 he signed a Deed of Trust to the Melliff-McAllister Lumber Company to construct the house on 
this property. 
 
1739 West Summit Avenue is a hidden gem, and an understated example of a “home of character” in the 
Woodlawn Lake District: the “Arc of Opportunity” in northwest San Antonio during the 1920s Jazz Age 
building boom. In December 1920, Albert Steves, Sr, head of the Ed Steves Lumber Company, was 
elected as one of five new members of the fifteen-member Board of Directors for the San Antonio 
Chamber of Commerce; two of the ten members whose terms were held over for the year were Gerald E. 
Melliff (1892-1966) and Walter W. McAllister (1889-1984).1 McAllister worked in the insurance 
industry, and Melliff was formerly general manager of the Hillyer, Deutsch, Jarratt Lumber Company, 
but resigned his position after twelve years of service to become one of the active managers of the 
building and loan association. In July 1921, the San Antonio Building and Loan Association was 
chartered by “prominent business and professional men of the city” to provide $5,000,000 in funds for 
the building and purchase of homes. The directors contracted Melliff and McAllister “to actively direct 
the operations of the association.”2 The new association offered two services, available to every member 
of the community: a monthly deposit savings plan and a loan department, providing funds for the 
building or purchase of homes. In a letter sent to the organization, Herbert Hoover, then U.S. Secretary 
of Commerce and future U.S. President, expressed his support: “Your associations, true people's banks, 
popularly controlled and locally managed, have sprung up voluntarily throughout the country. … 
Through loans upon homes, they are an instrumentality not only in solving the housing problems, but in 
developing self-reliance of our citizenry.”3 
 

 
1 “Stern Named as New Leader for Local Chamber,” San Antonio Evening News (Dec. 15, 1920), p. 7. 
2 “Building Loan Association is Organized Here,” San Antonio Light (July 12, 1921), p. 11. 
3 “To Make Funds Available for Home Building,” San Antonio Light (July 17, 1921), p. 37. 
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Over the next few decades, Melliff and McAllister would lead the 1920s building boom in San Antonio: 
building thousands of homes throughout the city, setting the standard for quality workmanship in 
homebuilding, implementing a financing system for certain classes of homebuyers, and developing tools 
for salesmanship and modern media campaigns to sell the American dream of homeownership to the 
masses. By 1929, the S.A. Building and Loan Association would boast of “resources totaling over 
$7,000,000 and over 40,000 savings, investment and loan accounts,” making it “the strongest institution 
of its kind in Southwest Texas.”4 By the end of the decade, Gerald Melliff served as President of the S.A. 
Chamber of Commerce, founder and Vice-President of the S.A. Building and Loan Association, founder 
and President of the San Antonio Building Materials Company (SABMCo), and President of the Texas 
Lumbermen’s Association. W.W. McAllister served as President of the S.A. Building and Loan 
Association from the 1930s through the 1950s. 
 
In October 1922, the Melliff-McAllister Lumber Company ran full-page ads in the San Antonio Light 
announcing its purchase of the Ed Steves & Sons’ lumber yard located at Buena Vista and Medina 
streets, and promising services to help newspaper readers to “plan a new home, to supply quality 
materials for its construction, and to assist in financing it.”5 The company adopted a slogan—“Homes of 
Character,” then developed a “Model Home” in the Woodlawn Place neighborhood (commonly known 
as the “Million-Dollar Addition”) and invited the public to “come and see it!” The Model Home was 
intended to showcase “representative and reliable concerns from every line and profession entering into 
the building of a home” (e.g., Steves Sash & Door Company – mill work and built-in features, King 
Furniture Company, Charles Boelhauwe – architect, Willis Ranney – construction manager, S.A. 
Building & Loan Association – home financing, etc.), and the company boldly claimed that “never 
before has such meticulous care been exercised in thoroughly co-ordinating the arts and crafts, down to 
the smallest details of workmanship and furnishings.”6 
 
The Model Home on Huisache Avenue was such an innovative concept at the time, the San Antonio 
Express published a feature story about Melliff to coincide with its opening to the public. “Gerald 
Melliff appears to have a finger in every business and civic pie that's baking in the city,” the author 
observed. The praise for Melliff was exceptional: 
 

“He is the type of man who has made the commercial history of America: the man who, through 
generations, by the very force of his personality, has carved his destiny from the materials that came 
to his hand. There is nothing of sham, nothing of egotism in his make-up. He has real ideas in his 
head, and sound judgment to back them up. He is a human dynamo of perfect health and bomb-proof 
nerves and inexhaustible energy. In spite of his modesty, and in spite of his youth, his is a 
personality to which the city looks for leadership. He is a man worth watching.”7 

 
The Model Home was open for viewing for ten days, and when public viewings ended on December 20th 
Melliff-McAllister began accepting bids for it. In February 1923, the San Antonio Express reported that 
“thousands of Sa.n Antonians paid visits to the masterpiece of home construction,” and that it “attracted 

 
4 Advertisement, San Antonio Express (January 01, 1929), p. 30. 
5 Advertisement, San Antonio Light (October 8, 1922), p. 20. 
6 Advertisement, San Antonio Express (November 8, 1922), Pg. 11. 
7 “Gerald Melliff Behind Idea of Model Home,” San Antonio Express (December 10, 1922), p. 72. 
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perhaps more interest than other building activity of the past year.” Harry Halff purchased the Model 
Home for $13,000.8 

 
Ralph Wells was born in Yazoo City, Mississippi, in 1885. In 1913, he married Lelia Adelle Bryant in 
Denison, Texas, and both his World War I draft registration and 1920 U.S. census records indicate that 
he resided in Nacogdoches, Texas, before settling in San Antonio. W.R. and Lelia Wells bought the 
property at 1739 Summit Avenue for $2,170 and began paying monthly installments of $30 in February 
1923.9 According to their daughter, Jean Wright, the Wells family “bought 2 lots in 1922” and “moved 
into the house in March or April, 1923.”10 While it is unclear whether or not Wells has a personal 
connection to Melliff or McAllister, he was employed by Southwestern Telephone Company, which was 
one of the contractors for the original Model Home on Huisache, providing the modern amenity of home 
telephone service. On the 1924 Sanborn map, it is one of only six addresses on the block, and one of the 
first two on north side of the street (and the only extant structure). While this block is just outside the 
recognized boundaries of the Woodlawn Place Addition (between Woodlawn Ave., Fredericksburg Rd. 
and N. Zarzamora), the subject property was built at the very beginning of the period of significance for 
this neighborhood (1923 to 1940), when builders conducted a major advertising campaign to draw 
residents to the area. 
 
Leland Busby, President of the Busby Building Corp., collaborated in the development of Woodlawn 
Place Addition, and built several stucco homes on the 1700 block of West Summit Avenue, which 
became known as “Stucco Row.” While seven of the 20 stucco homes remain today, 1701 West Summit 
Avenue—built in 1926 and featured in Busby newspaper ads for the Woodlawn District—was 
demolished in 2013. In December 1927, the San Antonio Light credited Gerald Melliff with inaugurating 
“what proved to be the most popular plan known to the construction industry for building homes”: “The 
co-operative plan to advertise and develop Woodlawn District was largely brought about through Mr. 
Melliff's own idea and direction. He believes growth of Woodlawn District has just begun. The district 
boasts $15,000,000 in homes, business properties, land and public improvements.” Melliff predicted that 
the Woodlawn District “will have 25,000 people in another five years,” and that San Antonio’s 
population would grow beyond 350,000 over the same period.11 Of course, the city would not achieve 
that demographic milestone until the 1940s, but Melliff could not have foreseen that growth would be 
stalled by the stock market crash of 1929 and the subsequent depression era. In the 1922 City directory, 
Gerald Melliff’s residential address is listed as the Gunter Hotel. In 1929, Gerald and Ethel resided on 
Taliaferro Road, while his parents (Garrett and Annie) lived in the Woodlawn Place Addition at 1621 
West Mistletoe. At the time of his death, Melliff resided at 150 Powder Horn Trail in Hill Country 
Village. 

 
W.R. Wells sold the property to Mike and Viola Gonzales in October 1973. Dana Kent purchased the 
property in August 1987. 
 

  

 
8 “Model Home is Sold to Halff,” San Antonio Express (February 18, 1923), p. 34. 
9 Bexar County 1923 Deed of Trust. 
10 Letter from Jean Wright to Dana Kent (Sep. 1, 1993). 
11 “S.A. of 350,000 is Predicted,” San Antonio Light (December 11, 1927), p. 62. 
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3. Architectural Description 
 
The subject property is a single-story Craftsman cottage built circa 1923, with a low-pitched, cross-
gabled roof with two front-facing gables, a side gable covering the partial-width front entry porch, and 
wide unenclosed eaves with exposed rafters. The front porch features floor-to-ceiling square columns, 
and in the rear is a raised wooden deck with latticed skirting, covered by a pergola with gabled rafters. 
(Historical photos show the porch was originally supported by three high, battered piers topped with 
short, sloping columns, which were removed and replaced by the classical style columns at a later date.) 
 
The front façade features a group of three single-sash wooden windows centered under the overhanging 
eave of the leftmost front-facing gable. The left façade includes a group of three centered single-sash 
wooden windows, and three separate, smaller high windows. A rear wing was added with a cross-gable 
on the right side to extend the home for an additional room, including corner entry door, a grouped pair 
of single-sash windows on the right façade, and one single-sash window on the rear façade. Triangular 
braces join the front and rear façades to the roof, as well as the side-facing gables at the porch columns 
and right façade of the rear extension. The walls of each façade include distinctive wooden clapboard 
siding. The rear deck can be accessed by a single-pane glass door on the right side of the extension, or 
via a rear door with 15 glass panels with two sidelights of 5 glass panels. 
 
The Southwestern style landscaping includes a concrete and brick paver driveway and walkways, rock 
and gravel beds, and drought-tolerant shrubs. There is a rear accessory dwelling unit near the back 
property line. This single-story casita has a high-pitched, side-gabled roof, topped with corrugated metal 
panels. 
 
Character-defining features of 1739 W. Summit include: 

- Low-pitched roof with overhanging eaves 
- Exposed beams, rafters, and triangular braces 
- Wooden clapboard siding 
- Rear accessory dwelling unit (casita) 

 
4. Landmark Criteria 
The property meets six criteria under UDC 35-607(b): 

• 5: Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for 
the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials; for its 
association with prolific home builders Gerald Melliff and W.W. McAllister. 

• 8: Its historical, architectural, or cultural integrity of location, design, materials, and 
workmanship; as an example of an early Craftsman cottage in the Woodlawn Lake District, 
with low-pitched roof with overhanging eaves, exposed beams, rafters, and triangular braces, 
clapboard wood siding. 

• 13: It bears an important and significant relationship to other distinctive structures, sites, 
or areas, either as an important collection of properties or architectural style or 
craftsmanship with few intrusions, or by contributing to the overall character of the area 
according to the plan based on architectural, historic or cultural motif; it is one of the first 
six addresses on the block, and one of the first two on north side of the street (and the only extant 
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structure), built at the very beginning of the period of significance for the Woodlawn Place 
Addition. 

 
5. Staff Recommendation 
A property must meet at least three of the 16 criteria used to evaluate eligibility for landmark 
designation, and this assessment determines that 1739 W. Summit Ave meets this threshold. Further 
research may reveal additional significance associated with this property.  
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1. 1739 West Summit Avenue - Front 
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2. 1739 West Summit Avenue - Right side (East) 
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3. 1739 West Summit Avenue - Left side (West) 
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4. 1739 West Summit Avenue - Rear 
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5. 1739 West Summit Avenue - Casita, right side (South) 
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6. 1739 West Summit Avenue - Casita, front (West) 
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7. 1739 West Summit Avenue - Casita, left side (North) 
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8. 1739 West Summit Avenue - Casita, rear (East) 
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9. Sanborn Map (1924), Vol. 5, Sheet 505 
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10. 1739 West Summit Avenue (original home, date unknown). Photo courtesy Dana Kent. 

 

 

11. William R. ("Ralph") Wells, original owner (date unknown). Photo courtesy Dana Kent. 
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12. San Antonio Light (December 11, 1927), Pg. 58 

  

13. San Antonio Light (August 05, 1966), Pg. 36 
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14. San Antonio Light (January 08, 1928), Pg. 53 
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15. San Antonio Express (January 01, 1929), Pg. 30 
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16. San Antonio Light (January 01, 1928), Pg. 1 



    
 

100 W. HOUSTON ST., SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS 78205 

210.207.0035 • Fax: 210.207.0199 • info@sapreservation.com • www.sapreservation.com 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



    
 

100 W. HOUSTON ST., SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS 78205 

210.207.0035 • Fax: 210.207.0199 • info@sapreservation.com • www.sapreservation.com 
 

 

17. San Antonio Express (December 06, 1936), Pg. 34 

 

18. San Antonio Express (June 06, 1937), Pg. 38 
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2. San Antonio Express (April 20, 1952), Pg. 30 

 




